NO. 46939-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

IRWIN NATURALS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THURSTON COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. Gary R. Tabor)

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Norman J. Bruns, WSBA #16234 Michelle DeLappe, WSBA #42184 GARVEY SCHUBERT BARER 1191 Second Avenue, 18th Floor Seattle, Washington 98101-2939 (206) 464-3939 nbruns@gsblaw.com mdelappe@gsblaw.com *Attorneys for Appellant* Michael Bowen, *pro hac vice* AKERMAN LLP 50 North Laura Street Jacksonville, FL 32202-3659 (904) 598-8625 michael.bowen@akerman.com *Attorneys for Appellant*

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

B.F. Goodrich v. State, 38 Wn.2d 663, 231 P.2d 325 (1951)...... 18 Complete Auto Transit, Inc. v. Brady, 430 U.S. 274 (1977)..... passim In re the Estate of Bracken, 175 Wn.2d 549, 290 P.3d 99 (2012).....7 Loeffelholz v. Univ. of Wash., 175 Wn.2d 264, 271, 285 P.3d 854 (2012).....7 McLeod v. J. E. Dilworth Co., 322 U.S. 327 (1944)...... 19, 24 National Geographic Society v. California Board of Equalization, 430 U.S. 551 (1977)..... passim Norton Co. v. Dep't of Revenue of Illinois, 340 U.S. 534 (1951)..... passim Overlake Hosp. Ass 'n v. Dep't of Health, 170 Wn.2d 43 (2010)9 *Quill Corp. v. North Dakota*, 540 U.S. 298 (1992) passim Skamania Cty. v. Woodall, 104 Wn. App. 525, 16 P.3d 701 (2001) 10 **Agency Decisions** Determination No. 04-0208, 24 WTD 217 (Aug. 31, 2004)... 10, 11, 15, 17 Determination No. 08-0128 15 Rules WAC 458-20-193 (Rule 193) passim

Page

I. <u>ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

I. The lower court erred in holding that Irwin Naturals (the "Company") was unable to dissociate its retail sales from its wholesale sales of nutritional products in Washington for business and occupation ("B&O") tax purposes under WAC 458-20-193 (Rule 193).

II. The lower court erred in holding that the Company was unable to dissociate its retail sales from its wholesale sales of nutritional products in Washington for B&O tax purposes based on the holding in *Norton Co. v. Dep't of Revenue of Illinois*, 340 U.S. 534 (1951).

III. The lower court erred in holding that the Company's retail sales of nutritional products to Washington residents had transactional nexus with the State for purposes of the Washington Retail Sales Tax ("RST").

II. <u>STATEMENT OF ISSUES</u>

I. Rule 193 provides that a taxpayer may dissociates sales for B&O tax purposes when the "instate activities are not significantly associated in any way with the sales into the state." Is the Company able to dissociate its retail sales under Rule 193 where the uncontroverted evidence is that the retail and wholesale channels of the Company operated independent of one another during the period at issue?

II. Under the United States Supreme Court's holding in *Norton*, a taxpayer can dissociate sales where instate activities "were not

decisive factors in establishing and holding [the] market" for unrelated sales. Is the Company able to dissociate its retail sales under *Norton* where the uncontroverted evidence is that the retail and wholesale channels of the Company operated independent of one another during the period at issue?

III. The concept of transactional nexus requires that a taxpayer's transactions or activities have a nexus – or connection – with a state before it can be required to follow the tax laws of a state. Is the concept of transactional nexus applicable in the context of retail sales and use taxes following the decision of the United State Supreme Court in *National Geographic Society v. California Board of Equalization*, 430 U.S. 551 (1977), such that retail sales of the Company during the period are outside the scope of the RST?

III. SUMMARY INTRODUCTION

The Company, a corporation with its a principal place of business in Los Angeles, California, is in the business of developing, marketing and selling nutritional products. The Company's sale of nutritional products takes place through two distinct channels – wholesale sales (the "Wholesale Channel") and retail sales (the "Retail Channel"). During the period 2002 through 2009 (the "Period"), the Company made wholesale sales of nutritional products to retailers and distributors in Washington. The Company did not begin making retail sales of nutritional products to Washington residents until 2004.

The operations of the Retail Channel and the Wholesale Channel were independent of one another. Any and all activities relating to the business of the Wholesale Channel was handled in-house by the Company. By contrast, the business of the Retail Channel was outsourced by the Company to third parties.

The solicitation of sales by the Wholesale Channel in Washington was accomplished through independent sales representatives and Company employees making in-person visits in the State. Sales of products by the Retail Channel in Washington were made telephonically or over the internet. The Retail Channel had no payroll or property in Washington during the Period.

While the Wholesale Channel sold directly to Washington retailers and distributors, the target market for the Retail Channel was individuals residing in Washington. With one exception, the products sold through the Wholesale Channel did not overlap those sold through the Retail Channel. Moreover, the product packaging, again, with one exception, was dissimilar between the Wholesale Channel and the Retail Channel. In addition to differences in packaging and product mix, the pricing of products sold through the Wholesale Channel were materially lower than price of products sold through the Retail Channel.

In light of these facts, the presence of the Company's products on

the shelves of Washington retailers in no way helped to promote or expand the Company's market for products sold by telephone or over the internet through the Retail Channel.

The Department has long-permitted taxpayers to dissociate revenue streams for purposes of B&O taxes under Rule 193. In order to claim dissociation pursuant to Rule 193, the taxpayer must show that the "instate activities are not significantly associated in any way with the sales into the state." The Company maintains that the uncontroverted facts of this case make clear that it is permitted to dissociate revenues since the instate activities relating to the Wholesale Channel are not in any way associated with the retail sales made by through the Retail Channel. However, even if there should be disagreement on the application of Rule 193, the Company relies on the decision of the United States Supreme Court in *Norton* to support dissociation as it relates to the imposition of B&O taxes.

The unambiguous holding in *Norton* is that dissociation must be permitted under the U.S. Constitution where the taxpayer can demonstrate that instate activities "were not decisive factors in establishing and holding [the] market" for unrelated sales. *Norton*, 340 U.S. at 538. The dissociation test articulated by the Court in *Norton* is less stringent than that contained in Rule 193 and also supports the Company's claim for dissociation of revenues related to the Retail Channel during the Period. The Company's instate activities relating to its Wholesale Channel during

the Period were most certainly not "decisive factors" in "establishing" or "holding" the market for the Company's sales through its Retail Channel. Therefore, and irrespective of the result reached under Rule 193, the Company is permitted to dissociate its sales made through the Retail Channel for B&O tax purposes pursuant to the holding in *Norton*.

Rule 193, by its express terms, speaks solely to dissociation for purposes of the B&O tax. However, the United States Supreme Court has decided several recent cases post-*Norton* making clear that, as a matter of U.S. constitutional law, dissociation must also be available to a taxpayer in the context of a state's indirect taxes such as the RST. Under these decisions, dissociation is permitted where the state lacks transactional nexus over the activities or transactions the state seeks to tax. The undisputed facts of this case are that any and all business activities of the Retail Channel took place outside Washington. The Department is unable to subject the Company's retail sales to the RST because all activities generating such sales take place outside the State.

As a result, Washington lacked the requisite transactional nexus to impose the RST in this case, and the Company's request for dissociation must be granted.

IV. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Irwin Naturals brought this refund action in Thurston County Superior Court challenging the B&O and Retail Sales Tax Assessment issued by the Washington Department of Revenue (the "Department") for the period 2002 through 2009 (the "Period").

During the Period, Irwin Naturals made wholesale sales to retailers and distributors in Washington. CP 19. Employees of Irwin Naturals visited Washington during the Period to solicit wholesale sales. CP 20, 22. Irwin Naturals also engaged independent contractors to solicit wholesale sales on its behalf during the Period. CP 21-22.

Beginning in 2004, Irwin Naturals began making retail sales of healthcare products to Washington residents. CP 21. Irwin Naturals had no employees or independent contractors physically present in Washington to solicit retail sales. CP 21. Irwin Naturals owned no property in Washington related to its solicitation of retail sales in the State. CP 21.

The parties filed cross motions for summary judgment. The Department argued that dissociation was unavailable for B&O tax purposes and *National Geographic* precluded the concept of "transactional nexus" from being applied in the context of the Retail Sales Tax. Irwin Naturals argued that both Rule 193 and *Norton* supported dissociation of retail sales from its wholesale sales for B&O tax purposes and that the holding of *National Geographic* does not control the use of "transactional nexus" in the context of the Retail Sales Tax. The lower court granted summary judgment to the Department denying summary judgment to

- 6 -

Irwin Naturals. Irwin Naturals timely filed its notice of appeal.

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court's order granting summary judgment is reviewed de novo. *In re the Estate of Bracken*, 175 Wn.2d 549, 562, 290 P.3d 99 (2012). Summary judgment is appropriate where, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Loeffelholz v. Univ. of Wash.*, 175 Wn.2d 264, 285 P.3d 854 (2012). In this case, the parties do not dispute the material facts. Accordingly, the issue in this case is whether the trial court correctly determined that the Company was not entitled to a refunds of B&O tax and RST, a question of law that is reviewed de novo. *Bracken*, 175 Wn.2d at 562.

VI. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

At the heart of this case is the tax concept of "dissociation." Dissociation refers to a taxpayer's ability to bifurcate its activities in a taxing state – one taxable and one not. In this case, the uncontroverted facts permit the Company to bifurcate the activities of its Wholesale Channel in Washington from those of its Retail Channel for B&O *and* RST purposes.

The tax laws of Washington expressly permit a taxpayer under certain defined circumstances to claim dissociation for purposes of the imposition of the B&O tax. *See* WAC 458-20-193 ("Rule 193").

Applying a different analysis, the United States Supreme Court made clear in *Norton* that the concept of "dissociation" is firmly embedded in the U.S. Constitution. For these reasons, the use of dissociation by taxpayers to avoid B&O taxes is not in doubt.

The tax laws of Washington are clear that a taxpayer is not permitted to claim dissociation in the context of the RST. Washington's position on the use of dissociation for purposes of the RST is premised on the holding in the *National Geographic*. However, over the last several decades, the United States Supreme Court has issued several decisions making clear that dissociation¹ applies to *all* tax types. Although the Court has not expressly overruled its holding in *National Geographic*, the logical extension of its recent decisions has marginalized its impact. The current view of the Court is the Company can successfully claim that the activities of its Wholesale Channel can be dissociated from the transactions and activities of its Retail Channel for purposes of the RST.

¹ In the context of these decisions of the United States Supreme Court the concept is referred to as "transactional nexus." Transactional nexus refers to the presence of a connection – or nexus – between the transaction or activity and the taxing state. If a transactional or activity does not have transactional nexus with a state, the taxpayer will have succeeded in dissociating the disputed transactions or activities. As a result, the concepts of transactional nexus and dissociation are inseparable.

- A. The Company is permitted to dissociate sales made through the Retail Channel for B&O purposes under either Rule 193 or the Court's holding in *Norton*.
 - 1. The Company is not liable for B&O taxes on sales completed by the Retail Channel because they are dissociated from the instate activities of the Company's Wholesale Channel under Rule 193.

Rule 193 is clear on its face that the Company is permitted to show

that the instate activities relating to its Retail Channel are dissociated from

those involving the Wholesale Channel. As applicable to the Period, Rule

193 reads in pertinent part as follows:

(7) Inbound sales. ... There must be both the receipt of goods in Washington by the purchaser and the seller must have nexus for B&O tax to apply to a particular sale. The B&O tax will not apply if one of these elements is missing. ...

(c) If a seller carries on significant activity in this state and conducts no other business in the state except the business of making sales, this person has the distinct burden of establishing that *the instate activities are not significantly associated in any way with the sales into the state.*

WAC 458-20-193 (emphasis added). The language used by the Department in Rule 193 is clear and must be followed without the need to employ the rules of statutory construction. *Overlake Hosp. Ass'n v. Dep't of Health*, 170 Wn.2d 43, 52 (2010) ("if the meaning of a rule is plain and unambiguous on its face, then we are to give effect to that plain

meaning"). The Department must not be permitted to argue against their own rule and claim that no such right to dissociation exists. *See Skamania Cty. v. Woodall*, 104 Wn. App. 525, 539, 16 P.3d 701 (2001) (making clear that administrative agencies must be bound by their own rules). As it relates to the facts of this case, Rule 193 leaves no doubt that the retail sales made through the Retail Channel are dissociated from the instate activities of the Wholesale Channel for B&O tax purposes.

Despite the clear right to dissociation under Rule 193, the Department's rules do not explain the specific circumstances under which a taxpayer can successfully demonstrate that its "instate activities are not significantly associated in any way" with other nexus-creating activities. However, administrative rulings issued by the Department do provide insight into this critical analysis.

In Determination No. 04-0208, 24 WTD 217 (Aug. 31, 2004),² the Department addressed whether a taxpayer was entitled to dissociate certain retail sales of products in Washington from certain other taxable instate activities for B&O tax purposes. In the ruling, the taxpayer argued that it was permitted to dissociate online retail sales of certain branded products from in-person retail sales of the same branded products in Washington. After a thorough discussion of the interpretive evolution of

² Determination No. 04-0208 is the most recent ruling from the Department addressing a request for dissociation under Rule 193.

Rule 193 by the Department, the ruling concludes by stating:

Therefore, to be eligible for dissociation, a sale must not be in any way associated with any of the taxpayer's instate activities that establish or maintain a market for its products.

Based on the facts of the ruling, the taxpayer faced insurmountable obstacles in its efforts to seek dissociation under Rule 193. Both the online and in-person sales were at retail and involved the *same* branded products. The Department concluded in the ruling that the online sales of products undeniably benefited from the brand recognition of the very same products sold by the taxpayer in Washington. In other words, the in-person sales of branded products helped maintain a market for the taxpayer's online retail sales. For these reasons, the Department denied the taxpayer's claim to dissociation under Rule 193.

When contrasted with the facts of Determination No. 04-0208, the undisputed facts of this case present a much clearer case for dissociation under Rule 193. As a threshold matter, unlike the taxpayer in the ruling, the Company had two different channels relating to the sale of products in Washington – a Wholesale Channel and a Retail Channel. In the ruling, both sets of transactions involved retail sales to the same target market. By contrast, the Company makes wholesale sales and retail sales to different target markets. CP 45, 52. Moreover, and unlike the taxpayer in the ruling, with one exception, there was no overlap of nutritional products sold by the Company through each of the Wholesale Channel and the Retail Channel.

Within the Company, the operations of the Retail Channel were wholly independent from the operations of the Wholesale Channel. CP 46. The business relating to the Wholesale Channel was handled entirely inhouse. *Id.* All Wholesale Channel functions relating to sales, processing, payment, collection and delivery were handled by Company employees. *Id.* The separateness of the Retail Channel manifested itself through the use of third parties. *Id.* The Company retained unaffiliated vendors to handle the sales, processing, payment, collection and delivery activities of the Retail Channel. *Id.*

Customer inquiries with respect to nutritional products sold through the Retail Channel were handled differently from those relating the Wholesale Channel. CP 47. If a retail customer of the Company called regarding a product offered through the Retail Channel, the person answering the phone on behalf of the Company would solicit sales of Company products offered through the Retail Channel. *Id.* However, when a purchaser of products from the Wholesale Channel called regarding a product, the Company would refer the caller back to the Company's wholesale customers for additional product purchases. *Id.* Customer calls relating to the Wholesale Channel were handled in this way to avoid competing directly with the Company's wholesale customers. CP 46. Additional evidence of independence is demonstrated by the fact that Company employees and independent sales representatives soliciting sales for the Wholesale Channel did *not* solicit sales of products offered through the Retail Channel. CP 46.

The strongest fact supporting the Company's claim to dissociation under Rule 193 relates to the fact that, other than the "Dual Action Cleanse" product, there was no overlap in branded products offered through the Retail Channel and the Wholesale Channel and products sold by the Retail Channel involved different branding and packaging schemes than the products sold by the Wholesale Channel. CP 46. These uncontroverted facts make clear that, other than the "Dual Action Cleanse" product, the Company's nutritional products on retailer's shelves in Washington simply could not have influenced sales of nutritional products through the Retail Channel.

Where branding, packaging and product mix do not overlap, an individual is unable to make the connection that the nutritional product on the shelf at a Washington retailer is in any way related to nutritional products sold under different brands and packaging by telephone or internet order.

The Company's offering of the "Dual Action Cleanse" product in no way impacts the Company's argument for dissociation under Rule 193. The marketing and sale of "Dual Action Cleanse" by the Company was its first effort to promote an "As Seen on TV" product. CP 48. The business plan for "Dual Action Cleanse" was to offer the product only at retail. *See id.* Once retail sales of the product peaked, the Company would then offer "Dual Action Cleanse" for sale to wholesale customers. CP 47. The goal of this business strategy was to maximize the revenue of the sale of "Dual Action Cleanse" over its product life. *See id.*

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