NO. 46939-1

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

IRWIN NATURALS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON
Attorney General

Joshua Weissman, WSBA No. 42648
Assistant Attorney General
Revenue Division, OID No. 91027
7141 Cleanwater Lane SW
PO Box 40123
Olympia, Washington 98504
(360) 753-5528

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

IV. ARGUMENT

The United States Supreme Court has expressly held that a seller of goods cannot "dissociate" a portion of its inbound sales for sales or use tax purposes, and therefore Irwin owes sales tax for its Washington retail sales to consumers because it did not collect the tax from those consumers. Washington also constitutionally imposed B&O tax on those sales under the standards outlined in this Court's recent holding in *Avnet*.

Irwin seeks to turn back the clock on the modern commerce clause case law, relying on a pair of 1951 cases. This Court should decline the

² Because Irwin does not mention the litter tax in its assignments of error or present argument related to that tax, it is not part of this appeal.

invitation and instead apply the current legal standards, as it recently did in *Avnet*.

This Court reviews questions of law and orders granting summary judgment de novo. *In re Estate of Hambleton*, 181 Wn.2d 802, 817, 335 P.3d 398 (2014). “Whether an out-of-state company has a substantial nexus with Washington is a question of law reviewed de novo.” *Space Age Fuels, Inc. v. Dep’t of Revenue*, 178 Wn. App. 756, 762, 315 P.3d 604 (2013). “Taxes are presumed valid, and the company bears the burden of showing that a substantial nexus does not exist.” *Id.* The trial court correctly concluded as a matter of law that Washington has substantial nexus with Irwin and with the inbound retail sales at issue in this case.

A. Under Current Law, Companies Engaging In Interstate Commerce Must Pay Their “Fair Share” Of State Taxes.

Before 1977, states could not directly tax interstate commerce, but certain indirect taxes or taxes imposed on a local component of the interstate activity were permitted. In 1977, the United States Supreme Court overruled the line of cases prohibiting states from directly taxing interstate commerce. The Court held that a state tax is consistent with the commerce clause “when the tax [1] is applied to an activity with a substantial nexus with the taxing state, [2] is fairly apportioned, [3] does not discriminate against interstate commerce, and [4] is fairly related to

the services provided by the state.” *Complete Auto Transit, Inc. v. Brady*, 430 U.S. 274, 279, 97 S. Ct. 1076, 51 L. Ed. 2d 326 (1977).

Instead of carving out an area of “tax immunity” for interstate commerce, the *Complete Auto Transit* test permits states to ensure interstate commerce pays its “fair share” of the state’s tax burden while shielding it from discriminatory treatment and an undue risk of multiple taxation. Here, there is no dispute that Washington’s retail sales tax and retailing B&O tax as applied to Irwin’s retail sales are both fairly apportioned and nondiscriminatory as required by the commerce clause.

Only the “substantial nexus” prong is in dispute in this case. “A substantial nexus exists when a company’s activities in Washington are both substantial and significantly associated with its ability to establish and maintain a market in Washington for its sales.” *Space Age Fuels*, 178 Wn. App. at 762.

A frequent but rarely successful taxpayer argument relating to substantial nexus is “dissociation,” or the issue of whether the commerce clause would ever prohibit a state from taxing a portion of an interstate seller’s in-state sales that are unrelated to other in-state activities such as marketing. The concept arose from the 1951 case *Norton Co. v. Illinois Dep’t of Revenue*, 340 U.S. 534, 71 S. Ct. 377, 95 L. Ed. 517 (1951). *Norton*, however, does not reflect current law.

Soon after the United States Supreme Court overruled the ban on states directly taxing interstate commerce, the Court rejected “dissociation” for “indirect” taxes, or taxes such as sales and use taxes that an interstate seller collects from its customers. *Nat’l Geographic Soc’y v. California Bd. of Equalization*, 430 U.S. 551, 561, 97 S. Ct. 1386, 51 L. Ed. 2d 631 (1977). Consistent with its prior decisions concerning mail-order sales into the state by the independently operated divisions of national retailers, the Court held that a taxpayer with a physical presence in the state cannot “dissociate” inbound mail order sales based on a lack of connection between those transactions and the seller’s in-state activities. *Id.* Under *National Geographic*, Irwin must collect and remit sales tax on its retail sales to Washington consumers. Having failed to do so, it is liable for the tax. See RCW 82.08.050(1), (3) (seller liable for uncollected sales tax).

Although *National Geographic* relied on cases involving other types of taxes (including Washington’s B&O tax), it did not expressly decide whether the concept of dissociation could still apply with respect to these other taxes. However, there is no question that “*Norton’s* foundations have been eroded by subsequent precedent.” *Avnet v. Dep’t of Revenue*, No. 45108-5-II, slip op. at 15 (Wn. App. April 28, 2015). This Court, synthesizing a sequence of United States Supreme Court

cases, held in *Avnet* that there need not be a direct connection between a taxpayer's in-state activities and particular sales for the state to impose its B&O tax on those sales. *Id.* at 14. "Some connection" is required, however, which is found by looking at whether the taxpayer's activities are significant in establishing and maintaining a market for goods in this state. *Id.* at 17.

Washington has substantial nexus to Irwin based on Irwin's extensive marketing here through employees and independent contractors, which Irwin admits for its \$10.1 million in wholesale sales. These marketing contacts were directed at maintaining a market here, where Irwin has a presence at health and grocery stores throughout the state. Irwin took advantage of this market by moving products from its retail business to its wholesale business. And Washington has nexus to all the transactions in this case because it is undisputed that all the customers received the products in Washington. Given the strong connection between Irwin's Washington activities and its sales into the state, Irwin cannot prove any Washington sales should be "dissociated."

B. The United States Supreme Court Does Not Permit "Dissociation" of Sales Taxes.

The bulk of the taxes at issue in this case are sales taxes. Irwin correctly does not contest that Washington imposes a sales tax on inbound

sales to Washington customers. Rather, Irwin argues that the commerce clause prohibits Washington from holding Irwin accountable for failing to collect sales taxes from its Washington customers. The United States Supreme Court has rejected an indistinguishable argument relying on the same case authority.

Washington imposes a retail sales tax on each retail sale of tangible personal property in this state. RCW 82.08.020. The sales tax is paid by the buyer, but collected by the seller. RCW 82.08.050. If the seller does not collect the tax, the seller is liable for the tax. *Id.* The Department held Irwin liable for sales tax because it did not collect and remit sales or use tax from its Washington retail purchasers. *See* CP 58. The use tax is similar to the sales tax and applies when personal property is used in this state and no sales tax has been paid in this or any other state. *See* RCW 82.12.020. Washington taxes interstate sales of goods that are inbound to Washington. *See, e.g., Lamtec Corp. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 151 Wn. App. 451, 215 P.3d 968 (2009), *aff'd*, 170 Wn.2d 838, 246 P.3d 788 (2011); *see also* WAC 458-20-193.

- 1. Under *National Geographic*, imposing sales taxes on Irwin for its Washington sales complies with commerce clause limitations.**

The sales tax issue is controlled by *National Geographic Society v. California Board of Equalization*, 430 U.S. 551, 97 S. Ct. 1386, 51 L. Ed.

2d 631 (1977). The issue in *National Geographic* was whether California could require out-of-state seller National Geographic to collect use tax on direct mail-order sales of globes, maps, and atlases sent to California addresses. *Id.* at 554. National Geographic maintained two offices in California from which it solicited advertising for its magazine. However, neither office performed any activity relating to National Geographic's mail-order business. Thus, National Geographic argued that its in-state activity—which was all related to advertising sales, not mail-order sales—should be disregarded in determining whether it must collect California use tax on mail-order sales. More specifically, “[t]he Society argues . . . that there must exist a nexus or relationship not only between the seller and the taxing State, but also between the activity of the seller sought to be taxed and the seller's activity within the State.” *Nat'l Geographic*, 430 U.S. at 560.

The Supreme Court squarely rejected National Geographic's dissociation argument:

[T]he relevant constitutional test to establish the requisite nexus for requiring an out-of-state seller to collect and pay the use tax is not whether the duty to collect the use tax relates to the seller's activities carried on within the State, but simply whether the facts demonstrate “some definite link, some minimum connection, between [the State and] the *person* . . . it seeks to tax.”

Nat'l Geographic, 430 U.S. at 561 (quoting *Miller Bros. Co. v. Maryland*, 347 U.S. 340, 344-45, 74 S. Ct. 535, 98 L. Ed. 744 (1954)) (emphasis in original). In other words, no connection between in-state marketing or activities and inbound sales is required. Rather, the taxpayer's physical presence in the state supported the state's taxing jurisdiction over all of the sales of goods shipped into the state. *See also D. H. Holmes Co. Ltd. v. McNamara*, 486 U.S. 24, 31, 108 S. Ct. 1619, 100 L. Ed. 2d 21 (1988) (rejecting taxpayer's argument that it lacked nexus to Louisiana for its interstate mail-order catalogs where it had a significant presence inside the state and directed the supplier to deliver the goods to its customers in the state). *National Geographic* emphatically forecloses Irwin's argument with respect to sales taxes.

2. This Court should reject Irwin's arguments for disregarding *National Geographic*.

Irwin correctly acknowledges that *National Geographic*, if still good law, forecloses its argument. App.'s Br. at 23 ("In *National Geographic*, the Court held that the taxpayer was not permitted to dissociate its mail order sales for sales and use tax purposes."). To avoid the effect of *National Geographic*, Irwin tries to persuade this Court that the case is no longer is good law. App.'s Br. at 23 (asserting *National Geographic* has been "diminished, if not tacitly overruled"). Irwin argues

that this Court should ignore the clear holding in *National Geographic* because: (1) the *National Geographic* Court relied on dicta in *Norton*, and (2) the Supreme Court's decision was "incomplete" because it relied on the due process clause rather than the commerce clause. App's Br. at 23-29.

Neither argument has merit. Irwin first asserts that *National Geographic* relied on dicta in *Norton*. App.'s Br. at 23-24. So what? Irwin offers no authority for the proposition that the Supreme Court's reliance on dicta in a previous case is grounds for ignoring a holding in a subsequent case that is not dicta.

In *Norton*, the Court held that if a taxpayer could prove inbound mail order sales were "dissociated" from its local activities, Illinois could not impose its occupation tax on the interstate seller. *Norton Co. v. Illinois Dep't of Revenue*, 340 U.S. 534, 71 S. Ct. 377, 95 L. Ed. 517 (1951). The holding made sense in the context of the prohibition of direct state taxation of interstate sales applied by the Supreme Court at the time, which drew a line between taxable "local transactions," and those that were "clearly interstate in nature," and thus immune from tax. *See Avnet*, slip op. at 16 (noting that *Norton's* holding rested on the discarded "tax immunity" doctrine). The Court determined that the taxpayer had met its

burden to show that its in-state activities were local in nature and not connected to some of its interstate mail-order sales. *Id.* at 539.

The Court in *National Geographic*, having recently allowed direct taxation of interstate sales in *Complete Auto Transit*, opted to distinguish *Norton* rather than overrule the case outright. It did so based on the type of tax at issue. The Court in *Norton* had stated that the burden on an interstate seller to collect a tax owed by a customer would be less onerous than the state taxing the seller itself. *Norton*, 340 U.S. at 537. In *National Geographic*, the Court cited this point and expanded on it to hold that California's requirement that National Geographic collect use tax on its interstate sales was consistent with the commerce clause. *Nat'l Geographic*, 430 U.S. at 558. Nothing about this sequence undermines *National Geographic* in any way.

Irwin's second argument—that *National Geographic* was “incomplete” because it addressed only the due process clause and not the commerce clause—is simply incorrect. The briefing and decision provided a thorough analysis of the commerce clause. CP 230-39 (commerce clause arguments in appellant's brief); *Nat'l Geographic*, 430 U.S. at 554 (commerce clause at issue), 557-61 (discussing commerce clause cases).

The taxpayer made the same argument as Irwin does here. It alleged that its mail order business had no connection to its in-state advertising business, and therefore it had no “physical presence” for its mail order business. *See* CP 221-41 (National Geographic’s Supreme Court brief). The taxpayer relied primarily on *Norton*. CP 237-38.

The Supreme Court rejected the taxpayer’s reliance on *Norton*. *Nat’l Geographic*, 430 U.S. at 558. The Court discussed or cited numerous other commerce clause cases, including *Standard Pressed Steel, Co. v. Dep’t of Revenue*, 419 U.S. 560, 562-63, 95 S. Ct. 706, 42 L. Ed 719 (1975), and *Complete Auto Transit*, the case Irwin says the Supreme Court ignored. *Nat’l Geographic*, 430 U.S. at 557-58.

Irwin also makes the related observation that *National Geographic* did not discuss the four prong commerce clause test from *Complete Auto Transit*, the case decided just one month earlier. App.’s Br. at 28. But the only prong at issue in *National Geographic* was the first—substantial nexus—the same prong at issue in this case. The Court analyzed this prong in the context of the taxpayer’s dissociation argument and held that “such dissociation does not bar the imposition of the use collection duty.” *Nat’l Geographic*, 430 U.S. at 560.

The only reasonable interpretation of *National Geographic* is that substantial nexus does not mean what Irwin asserts it does. The Court in

National Geographic concluded that California could tax sales inbound to California because the taxpayer had a sufficient connection to the state through its in-state activities, even if those in-state activities were not directly connected to the sales of those goods. *Nat'l Geographic*, 430 U.S. at 562. Likewise, substantial nexus is easily met in this case because Irwin has extensive connections to Washington sufficient to meet the constitutional test through its marketing activities. In fact, Irwin concedes it has such a connection for its wholesale sales. CP 11. Under this precedent, Irwin cannot dissociate retail sales for sales tax purposes.

C. Washington Has Nexus To Impose B&O Tax On All Of Irwin's In-State Sales Because Of Its Washington Contacts And The Relationship Between Its Sales Channels

While the Supreme Court in *National Geographic* held that dissociation was not available for sales and use taxes, it did not specifically rule on whether such a theory might work to carve out an exception to a taxpayer's substantial nexus for a tax like Washington's B&O tax. Washington imposes a B&O tax for the act or privilege of engaging in business activities in Washington. RCW 82.04.220. The tax applies to every person engaging in this state in the business of making sales at retail. RCW 82.04.250. The tax applies to inbound, but not outbound, interstate sales. *See* WAC 458-20-193.

1. For the same reasons as in *Avnet*, this Court should reject Irwin’s dissociation arguments.

In the context of Washington’s business and occupation tax, this Court recently rejected similar “transactional nexus” and “dissociation” claims based on much of the same case law Irwin relies on. *Avnet*, No. 45108-5-II, slip op. at 13-18 (attached as Appendix A).³ Like Irwin, *Avnet* conceded that it had “taxpayer . . . nexus,” or sufficient connection to the taxpayer, but argued that its instate activities were not sufficiently connected to some of its interstate sales. *Id.*, slip op. at 13. *Avnet* and Irwin both argued that Washington lacked “transactional nexus” with certain sales, and that they could dissociate some of their Washington sales from their Washington marketing activities. *Id.*; App.’s Br. at 20.

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